### Case No. 86417

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KEON KHIABANI, an individual; ARIA KHIABANI, an individual; SIAMAK BARIN, as Executor of the Estate of Kayvan Khiabani, M.D. (Decedent), the Estate of Kayvan Khiabani, M.D. (Decedent); SIAMAK BARIN, as Executor of the Estate of Katayoun Barin, DDS (Decedent); and the Estate of Katayoun Barin, DDS (Decedent); Electronically Filed Nov 20 2023 04:41 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants

VS.

MOTOR COACH INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent.

# APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Adriana Escobar, District Judge District Court Case No. A-17-755977-C

STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
ISSUES PRESENTED4			
STANDARD OF REVIEW			
STATEMENT OF PROCEDURE			
STATEMENT OF FACTS			
1. The Bus Operator Bungled The Driver Background Check6			
2. The Bus Operator Mismanaged Training Manual Updates7			
3. The Bus Operator Settlement Materialized After The Corporate			
Misconduct Was Divulged And Was Not Motivated By The			
Driver's Deposition9			
I. ARGUMENT9			
A. The Lindberg Holding That Offsets Must Be Calculated By Allocating			
Part Of A Settlement To Actual Damages And Part To "Unique"			
Statutory Or Punitive Exposure Of The Settling Tortfeasor Was Not			
"Dicta" To Be Disregarded By The District Court9			
1. Lindberg Adopted An Offset Calculation That Pro-Rates The			
Offset If The Settling Defendant Had Unique "Exposure" To			
Statutory Or Punitive Damages9			

	2.	The Bus Operator Had Statutory Exposure To Sizable Attorneys
		Fees Because Of The Offer Of Judgment That Triggered The \$5
		Million Settlement
	3.	The Bus Operator Had Unique Exposure To Punitive Damages
		Which Were Buttressed By Overwhelming Evidence15
	4.	The Lindberg Discussion Of Statutory And Punitive Damages
		Exposure Is Not Dicta17
В	. Offse	ts Do Not Require Adjudications Of Liability Of Settling
	Tortf	easors19
С	. There	e Was No "Estoppel" Because The Punitive Claim Was Based
	Upon	Corporate Misconduct – Not Driver Conduct
II. C	ONCLU	JSION
CERTIFIC	CATE O	F COMPLIANCE
CERTIFIC	CATE O	F SERVICE27

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

Banks v. Sunrise Hosp., 120 Nev. 822, 102 P.3d 52, (2004)20
<u>Beattie v. Thomas</u> , 99 Nev. 578, P.2d 268, 668 P.2d (1983)13
Capriati Construction Corp., Inc. vs. Yahavi, 137 Nev.Adv.Opin. 69, 498 P.3d 226
(2021)
J.E. Johns & Assoc. v. Lindberg, 136 Nev. 477, 470 P.3d 204 (2020) passim
Motor Coach Industries, Inc. v. Khiabani, 493 P.3d 1007, 137 Nev. Adv.Op 42
(2021)10
Statutes
NRAP 17(a)(11)1
NRAP 17(a)(12)1
NRAP 17(b)(5)1
NRAP 3A(b)(1)1
NRAP 3A(b)(8)1
NRAP 4(a)(1)1
NRCP 68
NRS 17.115
NRS 17.245(1)(a)
NRS 113.250

#### JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and 3A(b)(8). The district court entered its order granting Defendant/Respondent Motor Coach Industries, Inc.'s motion for offset on March 16, 2023. [2 App. 0301]. Written notice of entry of the order was served on March 24, 2023. [2 App. 0319]. Appellants timely appealed from the district court's order on April 12, 2023. [2 App. 0340]. *See* NRAP 4(a)(1).

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal to resolve important questions of statewide public importance, including the proper application of this Court's prior published decisions, under NRAP 17(a)(11) and 17(a)(12). The amounts at stake also exceed the threshold for presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals. *See* NRAP 17(b)(5).

///

///

- ///
- ///
- ///
- ///
- ///

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

A jury returned a verdict in favor of the Khiabani family in the amount of \$18,746,003.62 for compensatory damages and judgment was entered on April 17, 2018. [1 App. 0143-45]. The Khiabanis prevailed on a failure to warn claim. [1 App. 0139]. After post-trial challenges and an appeal to this Court, the verdict was affirmed and this matter was remanded to the District Court to calculate the offset, if any. The potential offset arose as a result of the settlement before trial by the bus operator for \$5 Million in response to an offer of judgment in like amount. Two other defendants also paid \$110,000.00 to match other offers of judgment. The Khiabanis have conceded that MCI, the bus operator and the other defendants were sued for the "same injury."

The parties dispute the amount of the offset. MCI contends and the District Court agreed that MCI is entitled to a credit for the full \$5 Million settlement paid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellants are Keon and Aria Khiabani and the Estates of their deceased parents, Dr. Kayvan Khiabani and Dr. Katayoun ("Katy") Barin. All 4 Appellants will be referred to collectively as the "Khiabanis" or "the Khiabani family" unless reference need be made to individual Appellants. Respondent Motor Coach Industries, Inc. shall be referred to as "MCI." Ryan's Express d/b/a Michaelangelo was the bus operator that settled below and will be referred to herein as the "bus operator." The bus operator and driver are not parties to this appeal as they were dismissed with prejudice after settlement approval at a good faith hearing. The landmark J.E. Johns & Assoc. v. Lindberg, 136 Nev.Adv.Op. 55, 470 P.3d 204 (2020) case will be referred to as "Lindberg."

by the bus operator and the full \$110,000.00 paid by the other 2 settling defendants. The Khiabanis contend that the \$5.11 Million in settlements must be allocated to unique damages to which the bus operator and the other defendants were exposed but to which MCI was not exposed (i.e., potential attorneys' fees under NRCP 68 and/or punitive damages).

The District Court offset hearing was held on June 28, 2022. A decision was The Order Granting announced without oral argument. [2 App. 0293-94]. Defendant Motor Coash Industries, Inc's Motion For Offset was filed on March 16, [2 App. 0301]. The District Court made three different rulings regarding 2023. the offset: (1) Lindberg is constricted solely to "a clear statute that allowed for treble damages" and "any discussion about punitive damages was dictum" [2 App. 0310:14-19]; (2) punitive damages cannot be allocated unless the liability of the settling tortfeasor is adjudicated by a finder of fact [2 App. 0310:20-0311:11]; and (3) the Khiabanis were estopped from claiming that the bus operator had a punitive exposure for its conscious disregard in implementing faulty applicant screening procedures because the Khiabanis argued that the bus driver would have heeded a warning [2 App. 0311:2-19]. Despite acknowledging that the Khiabanis urged that exposure to attorneys' fees as a result of an offer of judgment was exposure to unique damages [2 App. 0309:13-0310:2], the District Court did not explain why it did no offset calculation for the statutory attorney fee exposure.

The District Court stripped the entire \$5.11 Million in settlements from the \$18,746,003.62 compensatory verdict. MCI paid the balance to the Khiabanis with the vast majority going to the surviving sons; Keon and Aria.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Whether <u>Lindberg</u> was "dicta" or binding precedent that should be applied to other statutory damages or punitive damages exposure unique to a settling defendant?
- 2. Whether potential NRCP 68 liability for attorneys fees is a unique exposure for which settlement proceeds should be allocated?
- 3. Whether potential punitive liability to the bus operator for its corporate misconduct is a unique exposure for which settlement proceeds should be allocated?
- 4. Whether the punitive damage liability exposure of a settling defendant must be adjudicated by a finder of fact to constitute an offset?
- 5. Whether the Khiabanis were estopped from alleging that the bus operator acted with conscious disregard in its driver hiring or training procedures by arguing at trial that the bus **driver** would have heeded a warning?
- ///
- ///

4

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

All issues are decided under a <u>de novo</u> review standard. <u>Lindberg</u>, 136 Nev.Adv.Op.55, 470 P.2d 204, 207 (2020) ([T]he district court's interpretation and construction of NRS 17.245(1)(a) presents a question of law that we review <u>de</u> <u>novo</u>.")

#### **STATEMENT OF PROCEDURE**

The Khiabanis made offers of judgment to the 3 settling defendants in the exact same amount as the ultimate settlements. [2 App. 0255-58; 0270-72; 0274-76]. No offer of judgment was made to MCI. The punitive damages claim against MCI was submitted to the jury which found in its favor on this claim:

If you answered "Yes" on any of the above liability questions, you must also determine Plaintiffs' claim for punitive damages against MCI:

#### **PUNITIVE DAMAGES**

Is MCI liable for punitive damages? Yes \_\_\_\_\_ No  $\sqrt{}$ 

[1 App. 0141]. MCI was not responsible for attorneys' fees. [1 App. 0145-46].

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

MCI was found liable on a strict liability failure to warn theory centered on the dangerous aerodynamic properties of its "boxy" bus design. The bus operator was sued for negligence and punitive damages. The punitive damages claim against the bus operator was primarily based upon (1) the faulty procedures adopted by the bus operator to perform background checks before hiring applicants which did not find four serious prior traffic violations by the bus driver involved in the accident; and (2) the failure of the bus operator to update driver training materials with noteworthy changes to traffic laws such as the 2011 bicycle safety law.

# 1. The Bus Operator Bungled The Driver Background Check

William Bartlett was produced as the bus operator 30(b)(6) witness on

multiple safety topics:

Subject #1: For the time period beginning one year prior to Defendant Edward Hubbard's employment with ML,<sup>2</sup> through the present, all ML policies and procedures regarding hiring, training, supervision and retention of any employee and/or independent contractor, including in particular, Defendant Edward Hubbard . . . .

Subject #2: For the time period beginning one year prior to Defendant Edward Hubbard's employment with ML through the present, all ML policies and procedures regarding driver discipline, driver safety and rules under which drivers operate.

[2 App. 0227-33]. Bartlett was the Director of Safety and Risk Management of the

bus operator from January 2015 to March 2017 -- when the bus driver was trained.

[2 App. 0236-37].

The bus operator had an absurd corporate policy of scrutinizing traffic violations for only the three prior years before the interview date of potential drivers. Bartlett admitted that the bus operator could easily have looked back for 10 years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "ML" meant "Michaelangelo" which was the d/b/a of the bus operator.

If the bus operator had done so, it would have discovered four serious traffic violations by the bus driver applicant that would have resulted in his not being hired:

Q. Okay. If you'd gone back ten years, you would have known about all these things I just read to you from exhibit 6; right?A. Right.

. . . .

Q. I am suggesting that, if you had known about Exhibit 6, the [traffic violations] information in Exhibit 6, you wouldn't have hired this guy?A. You're very possibly right.

[2 App. 0248-50]. The conscious disregard of adopting a comically limited review

period for past traffic violations is bad conduct by the company -- not by the driver.

These damaging facts created the unique "exposure" to punitive damages that the

bus operator settled.

# 2. The Bus Operator Mismanaged Training Manual Updates

Bartlett conceded not knowing of the 2011 bicycle law that requires buses go

to the far left lane and provide bicyclists with 3 foot clearance and admitted that the

bus operator provided no driver training regarding the bicycle statute:

Q. ... Prior to September 1st [the week before the Bartlett deposition], you did not know there was a law in Nevada that required motor vehicles to move over to the far left lane if there's two travel lanes? A. I was not.

Q. Okay. And since you weren't aware of that, that was never part of the training session for drivers?A. No.

Q. And prior to September 1st, were you aware that there's also a law in Nevada that buses and motor vehicles cannot come within 3 feet of a bicycle?

A. No, sir.

- Q. So that's -- you know that now, I assume.
- A. I've been made aware there is some sort of law.

Q. Okay. Whose job is it to make sure that the training curriculum is up-to-date -- is up-to-date with the laws in Nevada?

A. Well, I put the curriculum together.

- Q. Okay. So assuming, for the sake of argument, that this law comes out back in 2011, whose job would it have been at that time?
- A. Had I been aware, it would have been mine.

[2 App. 0238:4-0239:3 (Bold added)]. This testimony cemented that the Director of Safety Bartlett did not know of the 3-foot law and also that it was not included in driver training materials.

Bartlett testified that he copied the driver training manuals that the bus operator used from another bus company in 2010. [2 App. 0245:9-21]. Failing to update a purloined training handbook for 7 years between 2010 and 2017 with significant developments such as the 2011 bicycle law was a stunning act of corporate malfeasance.

The bus driver was hired on April 20, 2016. and trained on April 20-22, 2016. [2 App. 0246:11-14; 0247:17-20]. The parroted 2010 training manual still being used in 2016 did **not** reference the 3-foot bicycle law that was enacted years earlier in 2011. [2 App. 0251-53]. These facts also generated punitive "exposure" to the bus operator for corporate malfeasance.

# 3. The Bus Operator Settlement Materialized After The Corporate Misconduct Was Divulged And Was Not Motivated By The Driver's Deposition

The damning facts about the farcical pre-hiring investigation and the flawed and outdated training materials were documented in the Bartlett deposition taken on September 8, 2017. Three days later, Plaintiffs served an offer of judgment. [2 App. 0255-58]. The bus operator agreed to settle days later. The bus driver was not deposed until September 20, 2017 -- 9 days **after** the offer of judgment was served. The shocking corporate misconduct and resulting punitive exposure that was chronicled in the Bartlett deposition triggered the bus operator settlement -- not anything that the bus driver testified to **after** the offer of judgment was made regarding his conduct.

# I. ARGUMENT

- A. The <u>Lindberg</u> Holding That Offsets Must Be Calculated By Allocating Part Of A Settlement To Actual Damages And Part To "Unique" Statutory Or Punitive Exposure Of The Settling Tortfeasor Was Not "Dicta" To Be Disregarded By The District Court
  - 1. <u>Lindberg</u> Adopted An Offset Calculation That Pro-Rates The Offset If The Settling Defendant Had Unique "Exposure" To Statutory Or Punitive Damages

J.E. Johns & Assoc. v. Lindberg, 136 Nev. 477, 470 P.3d 204 (2020) [hereinafter "Lindberg'] was decided on August 20th, 2020 -- after the briefing on the initial appeal of this case had closed but before oral argument. This Court remanded the offset determination under <u>Lindberg</u>. See <u>Motor Coach Industries</u>, <u>Inc. v. Khiabani</u>, 493 P.3d 1007, 137 Nev. Adv.Op 42 (2021) The District Court wrongfully disregarded <u>Lindberg</u> as dicta and ordered that there should be a complete offset for the entire \$5.11 Million paid by the 3 settling defendants.

<u>Lindberg</u> elucidates "that settlement offset calculations pursuant to NRS 17.345(a)(1) must adhere to the statute's goal of avoiding windfalls, which necessarily includes restricting the settlement credit to the amount that fully compensates the plaintiff's injury and does not otherwise provide for double recovery." <u>Lindberg</u>, 470 P.3d, at 211. Instead of "avoiding windfalls," the District Court gave MCI a multi-million dollar godsend by subtracting the entire \$5.11 Million from its compensatory liability. Conversely, the Khiabanis were inappropriately mulcted. <u>Lindberg</u>, 470 P.3d at 211 ("To conclude otherwise would penalize the plaintiff, while granting a windfall to the nonsettling defendant.")

<u>Lindberg</u> has simplified offset calculations to a two part test. First, <u>Lindberg</u> asks if both defendants were sued for the "same injury." The Khiabanis have conceded that the same injury underlies both claims.

The second <u>Lindberg</u> inquiry is to identify unique damages sought against the settling defendant (the bus operator) and compare such exposure to the damages awarded against the non-settling defendant (MCI):

Thus, ensuring that a plaintiff does not recover twice for the same injury does not mean that a plaintiff should otherwise be precluded from receiving the portion of a settlement award that resolves a settling defendant's **exposure beyond actual damages** -- such as treble or **punitive damages** -- if such exposure is **unique** to the settling defendant.

Lindberg, 470 P.3d at 211 (Bold added) In Lindberg, an aggrieved home buyer sued the seller and the real estate agents of both parties. "The Lindbergs specifically alleged that the sellers violated their statutory disclosure obligation under NRS 113.130, for which NRS 113.150 (4) permits the recovery of treble damages, and that the sellers' agents and the Lindbergs' agents violated their statutory duties of disclosure pursuant to NRS 645.252, which gave rise to a cause of action under NRS 645.257 to recover their actual damages." Lindberg, 470 P.3d at 205. Before trial, the buyers settled with the sellers for \$50,000 and with buyer's agent for \$7,500.

The <u>Lindberg</u> District Court awarded \$75,780.79 against the seller's agents. "Then, the district court offset the \$27,552.95 award [to fix a septic tank] by the entire settlement amount paid by the Lindbergs' agents (\$7,500), and by one-third of the settlement amount paid by the sellers (\$50,000 x 1/3 = \$16,650) in recognition that the Lindbergs `would be entitled to treble damages against the sellers associated with any claim established under NRS 113.250."" <u>Lindberg</u>, 470 P.3d at 210.

On appeal, the agent for the <u>Lindberg</u> seller made the same covetous argument that MCI now makes: they insisted on a credit for the full settlement amount as opposed to a portion of it. The <u>Lindberg</u> Court described the issue before it as: "[w]hether NRS 17.245(1)(a) requires district courts to automatically deduct the entirety of a settlement award without considering the makeup of the award in relation to the judgment against the nonsettling defendants . . . ." <u>Lindberg</u>, 470 P.3d at 210.

Based upon the principle that equitable settlement offsets are to avoid windfalls, the Court held that offsets must be applied only after "scrutinizing the allocation of damages awarded therein" and differentiated between actual damages and treble damages. Lindberg, 470 P.2d at 210. The Court then made the critical holding that where treble or punitive damages was a "unique **exposure** to the settling defendant", "then ensuring that a plaintiff does not recover twice for the same injury does not mean that a plaintiff should otherwise be precluded from receiving the portion of a settlement award that resolves a settling defendant's exposure beyond actual damages -- such as treble or punitive damages -- if such **exposure** is unique to the settling defendant." Lindberg, 470 P.3d at 211. (Bold added) The Khiabanis emphasize that the Lindberg Court explicitly commented multiple times that the settling defendant's "exposure" to **punitive** damages must be considered.

# 2. The Bus Operator Had Statutory Exposure To Sizable Attorneys' Fees Because Of The Offer Of Judgment That Triggered The \$5 Million Settlement

The Khiabanis served offers of judgment to all 3 settling defendants. [2 App. 0255-58 (\$5 Million Dollar offer of judgment to the bus operator); 2 App. 0274-76

(\$100,000 offer of judgment to Bell Sports); and 2 App. 0270-72 (\$10,000 offer of judgment to Sevenplus Bicycles, Inc.)]. The final settlements by all 3 settling defendants were the exact same amounts as set forth in the respective offers of judgment.

The Khiabanis did not **serve** an offer of judgment to MCI. MCI was not "exposed" to attorney fees under NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115(4)<sup>3</sup>. The judgment entered against MCI did not include attorneys' fees. [1 App. 0143-46]. MCI did not pay fees.

Given service of the offers of judgment, all 3 settling defendants had a substantial "exposure" to costs and fees under NRCP 68. See <u>Capriati Construction</u> <u>Corp., Inc. vs. Yahavi</u>, 137 Nev.Adv.Opin. 69 498 P.3d 226, 231 (2021) [hereinafter <u>Capriati</u>] ("Under NRCP 68(f)(1)(B), if an offeree rejects an offer of judgment and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment, the offeree must pay `reasonable attorney fees, if any be allowed, **actually incurred** by the offeror **from the time of the offer.**" (Bold in original) In contingent fee cases, the amount of the contingent fee is the post-offer attorney fees under NRCP 68. <u>Id</u>.

Capriati held:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See <u>Beattie v. Thomas</u>, 99 Nev. 578, P.2d 268, 668 P.2d, 273-74 (1983) (NRS 17.115 expressly governs judgment offers, but varies from NRCP 68 in that it allows recovery of only costs and expert witness fees, and not attorney's fees). See also NRS 17.115(4).

We now clarify that a district court may award the entire contingency fee as a post-offer attorney fees under NRCP 68 because the contingency fee does not vest until the client prevails. See <u>Grasch</u> <u>v. Grasch</u>, 536 S.W.3d 191, 194 (Ky. 2017) (holding that "the attorney does not possess a vested right to the actual contingent fee until the case is won or settled"); see also <u>Hoover Slovacek LLP v. Walton</u>, 206 S.W.3d 557, 562 (Tex. 2006) (holding the same). A contingency fee is contingent on the plaintiff prevailing, which will happen only **after** an offer of judgment is rejected -- never before.

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