Case No. 86417

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

KEON KHIABANI, an individual; ARIA KHIABANI, an individual; SIAMAK BARIN, as executor of the ESTATE OF KAYVAN KHIABANI, M.D. (decedent), the ESTATE OF KAYVAN KHIABANI, M.D. (decedent); SIAMAK BARIN, as executor of the ESTATE OF KATAYOUN BARIN, DDS (decedent), and the ESTATE OF KATAYOUN BARIN, DDS (decedent),

Electronically Filed Mar 19 2024 11:45 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

vs.

MOTOR COACH INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Respondent.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Adriana Escobar, District Judge District Court Case No. A-17-755977-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

Plaintiffs here did not allocate any part of the prior settlements to punitive damages or face such a negative tax consequence as a result. Their choices demonstrate that they acted in their own interest in not making such an allocation. To claim that MCI is not entitled to a full offset on the assertion that some of the settlement was for punitive damages, plaintiffs would have to proverbially "put their money where their mouth is." That plaintiffs were not willing to make such an allocation in the settlement should be conclusive that MCI is entitled to a full offset.

2. Insurance Does Not Usually Pay Aspects of Settlements Related to Punitive Damages

Insurance policies generally do not cover punitive damages. See Lombardi v. Maryland Cas. Co., 894 F. Supp. 369 (D. Nev. 1995) (concluding that under Nevada law as predicted by district court, a commercial general liability insurance policy did not provide indemnification for punitive damages).

Here, however, the settling co-defendants advanced funds from their respective insurance policies for this settlement. This use of insurance funds demonstrates that even the defendants did not attribute a portion of the settlement to punitive damages.

Where, as here, there is no explicit agreement that portions of the settlement proceeds were paid on the punitive-damages claim, there is no substantial showing of such an allocation through an arm's length transaction.

D. Plaintiffs Waived these Arguments and Are Barred by Law of the Case and Judicial Estoppel

1. Waiver

Plaintiffs submitted a judgment to the district court that included no offset. When MCI moved to alter or amend the judgment to include a full offset for the settlement, plaintiffs did not claim a reduced offset, even in the alternative. Plaintiffs did not raise the argument in their answering brief in the first appeal. Indeed, this Court in *MCII*, after holding that an offset would prevent double recovery, held that

the district court should have granted MCI's motion to alter or amend the judgment to offset the settlement proceeds paid by other defendants, and we remand for calculation of the offset due.

MCI I, 483 P.3d at 1017. MCI's Rule 59(e) motion was to allow a full offset. This Court held the lower court "should have granted" that motion. The district court was correct in determining its role was to implement the full offset under the mandate from this Court. This Court did not hold that only

a portion of the settlement proceeds should have been offset, but rather "the settlement proceeds" without limitation.

Plaintiffs never raised this partial offset issue in the briefing in the first appeal, case no. 78701. In a NRAP 31(e) "notice of supplemental authority" after briefing, they cited *J.E. Johns*, but even then they did not raise the new argument that the offset should be diminished. (Dkt. No. 78701, Doc. 21-04849.) They said only that the *J.E. Johns* opinion is "relevant to the offset issue." *Id.* The new issue was waived in the district court and in the first appeal.

Raise it or waive it is the rule on appeal, even for respondents. *United States v. Dreyer*, 804 F.3d 1266, 1277 (9th Cir. 2015) ("generally an appellee waives any argument it fails to raise in the answering brief"); *In re Cellular 101, Inc.*, 539 F.3d 1150, 1155 (9th Cir. 2008); *cf. Parmalat Capital Fin. Ltd. v. Bank of Am. Corp.*, 671 F.3d 261, 270-71 (2d Cir. 2012) (parties waived argument by failing to raise it in the first round of appeal); *see also Canfora v. Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 771, 777 n.16, 121 P.3d 599, 604 n.16 (2005) (as respondent "did not raise this issue below, it is waived on appeal").

Supplemental briefs are not the time for new substantive arguments. Pakootas v. Teck Cominco Metals, Ltd., 830 F.3d 975, 986 n.12 (9th Cir. 2016); Nalder ex rel. Nalder v. United Auto. Ins. Co., 817 F. App'x 347, 349 (9th Cir. 2020) (declining to entertain supplemental authorities and argument that could have been raised before certification of question to Nevada Supreme Court). A respondent must fully respond when the appellant would be entitled to the full relief it is requesting. See Maduike v. Agency Rent-A-Car, 114 Nev. 1, 6 n.1, 953 P.2d 24, 27 n.1 (1998) (refusing to let a respondent question the applicability of a doctrine after it had "predicated its brief on the assumption that [the doctrine] is applicable").

That is the case here. MCI requested a full offset in its motion to alter and amend in the district court and in the first appeal. Plaintiffs made no alternative argument. A full offset is what MCI is entitled to.

2. Rule of Mandate and Law of the Case

And a full offset is what this Court ordered. That is the Court's mandate, and plaintiffs cannot argue for a new remedy on remand. That is the law of the case.

"When a reviewing court determines the issues on appeal and reverses the judgment specifically directing the lower court with respect to particular issues, the trial court has no discretion to interpret the

reviewing court's order; rather, it is bound to specifically carry out the reviewing court's instructions." Wheeler Springs Plaza, LLC v. Beemon, 119 Nev. 260, 263–64, 71 P.3d 1258, 1260 (2003); see also Estate of Adams ex rel. Adams v. Fallini, 132 Nev. 814, 818, 386 P.3d 621, 624 (2016).

In State Engineer v. Eureka County, this Court upheld a district court's order granting judicial review of permits issued by the state engineer. 133 Nev. 557, 559–60, 402 P.3d 1249, 1251 (2017). In a prior appeal, this Court had held that the state engineer's decision "was not based upon substantial evidence and could not stand." Id. So on remand, the district court properly vacated the permits. Id. Relying on the rule of mandate and the law-of-the-case doctrine, this Court observed that "[a]t no point did we direct the district court to remand to the State Engineer for additional fact-finding." Id. If the permittee had not presented sufficient evidence in its initial application, it was "not entitled to a do-over" to present the missing evidence. Id.

So, too, here. While this Court, in remanding, also called for a calculation of the offset, that instruction simply followed this Court's normal practice of having the district court apply the holding, as law of the case, to the facts, especially where damages calculations are concerned.

See, e.g., Valley Health Sys., LLC v. Murray, 140 Nev., Adv. Op. 14, ____ P.3d ___ (Mar. 14, 2024). This Court did not invite plaintiffs to present new arguments or evidence (which, as discussed, they failed to do) to support a drastically reduced settlement credit. As the only issue raised in MCI I was whether strict-liability defendants are entitled to a settlement credit, the proper calculation was a matter of course based on the disclosed value of the settlements. This Court's instruction did not abrogate the law-of-thecase doctrine or open the floodgates for all new issues.

3. Judicial Estoppel

Plaintiffs did not claim that any amount of the settlements was allocated to punitive damages when they and the settling defendants moved for approval as a good-faith settlement under NRS 17.245. This indicated to MCI that it would then be entitled to an offset for the full amount of those settlements. Plaintiffs cannot now claim a different consequence to MCI.

The purpose of a motion for good-faith settlement is to allow the non-settling defendant to determine if the offset from the settlement is sufficient to give up its potential contribution claim against the settling tortfeasor under NRS 17.245. If a settlement allocates damages in a certain manner, that information must be presented to the parties and the

court at the time of the settlement. See Orange County Water District v. Unocal Corp.,2019 WL 12661091 *2 (C.D. Cal. 2019) ("Where a settlement agreement is silent on the issue of allocation, the settlement agreement remains unallocated.") Such notice gives non-settling parties a fair opportunity to object to the allocation, which will have future consequences for an offset. Id. Put another way, "the statutory requirement of good faith extends not only to the amount of the overall settlement but as well to any allocation which operates to exclude any portion of the settlement from the setoff." Knox v. County of Los Angeles, 167 Cal.Rptr. 463, 470 (App. 1980).

Plaintiffs not only failed to give notice of any allocation, they led MCI to believe that it would be entitled to the full offset. Plaintiffs themselves expressly stated in the motions that MCI would get an offset for the settlement amounts:

Plaintiffs' remaining claims will be *reduced by the settlement amounts* contributed by Michaelangelo and Hubbard. NRS 17.245(1)(a). As set forth above, the remaining defendants will receive a contribution toward any future judgment entered against them.

Respondent's App. 06, 08 (Plaintiffs' Motion for Determination of Good Faith Settlement with Defendants [Michelangelo and Hubbard] Only" Jan. 18, 2018, at 6:5, 8:9) (emphasis added).

Judicial estoppel prevents a party from taking inconsistent positions when "the party was successful in asserting the first position (i.e., the tribunal adopted the position or accepted it as true)." In re Frei Irrevocable Tr. Dated Oct. 29, 1996, 133 Nev. 50, 390 P.3d 646, 652 (2017). The court does not have to formally "adopt" the party's argument before judicial estoppel applies. See id. That element is satisfied where a court approves a settlement. Id. at 56, 390 P.3d at 652 (noting the third element was satisfied because party asserted position in his petition and the district court approved his petition); Kale v. Obuchowski, 985 F.2d 360, 361 (7th Cir. 1993) (holding that where court approved settlement, judicial estoppel applied because no case "makes application of judicial estoppel depend on the existence of a judicial opinion adopting the litigant's position; it is enough that the litigant win," and "[p]ersons who triumph by inducing their opponents to surrender have 'prevailed' as surely as persons who induce the judge to grant summary judgment."); see also Reynolds v. C.I.R., 861 F.2d 469, 473 (6th Cir. 1988) (holding that because bankruptcy agreements must be approved as fair and equitable, bankruptcy agreements satisfy judicial acceptance prong of judicial estoppel inquiry).

Plaintiffs obtained approval of their settlements and cut off MCI's contribution rights by asserting that the manufacturer would have an offset for the settlement amounts. In these circumstances, they should not be allowed, first, to attempt to eliminate those offsets completely and, now, to limit them substantially.

II.

THIS COURT MUST REJECT PLAINTIFFS' ARGUMENT THAT ANY NEBULOUS CLAIM OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES REDUCES THE OFFSET

Plaintiffs' position is that any settlement of a claim that includes allegations of punitive damages prevents a full offset for settlement proceeds. They call this "a simple bright-line test that can usually be resolved by examining the complaint." (AOB at 18.) But there are several reasons plaintiffs' proposed test is illogical and unworkable.

Any reduction should be only in the clearest of cases, after *prima* facie evidence rebutting the presumption of a full offset and then a thorough examination of the circumstances.

A. A Punitive Damages "Claim" is Different from the Right to Treble Damages

Treble damages are a statutory entitlement in certain cases and are easily calculable from the face of a settlement. Punitive damages are not.

In *J.E. Johns*, this Court dealt with a claim involving treble repair damages under NRS 113.150(4) for delayed disclosure of defects in property. In such a case, treble recovery is automatic and serves a remedial, rather than punitive, purpose. *Webb v. Shull*, 128 Nev. 85, 92, 270 P.3d 1266, 1270–71 (2012) ("Because it appears that the nature of the damages are concerned with the prohibitive conduct of the seller rather than his state of mind, we conclude that treble damages awarded pursuant to that statute are remedial, not punitive in nature."). Similar statutory damage multipliers can be found in a number of areas.⁵

Punitive damages are different. Unlike treble damages, punitive damages are not calculated based solely on the victim's actual losses. *Webb*, 128 Nev. at 90, 92, 270 P.3d at 1269, 1270-71. Instead, they are determined based on factors such as the defendant's behavior, degree of wrongdoing,

⁵ E.g., NRS 40.150 (treble damages for waste); NRS 41.580 (treble damages for property taken by certain crimes); NRS 41.1395 (double damages for elder abuse); NRS 108.668 (treble damages for failure to release county or hospital lien); NRS 143.120(3) (treble damages for conversion by personal representative); NRS 240A.300 (double damages for document-preparation violations); NRS 569.440 (double damages for trespassing livestock); NRS 576.042(1) (treble damages for violations of farm-product statutes); NRS 598.0999(3) (treble damages for deceptive trade practices); NRS 598.3982(2)(c), (d) (treble damages for repeated ticket-reselling violations); NRS 600.430(2)(c) (treble damages for willful trademark infringement).

and financial capacity. NRS 42.001, NRS 42.005(1), (4); see also Ace Truck & Equip. Rentals, Inc. v. Kahn, 103 Nev. 503, 746 P.2d 132 (1987), abrogated in part by Bongiovi v. Sullivan, 122 Nev. 556, 138 P.3d 433 (2006). And as their assessment is based on the defendant's conduct, not the plaintiff's injury, it is impossible to predict the amount, even when the trier of fact elects to award them. See Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 350 (1974) ("[J]uries assess punitive damages in wholly unpredictable amounts bearing no necessary relation to the actual harm caused.").6

As such, the fact that there is a punitive-damages claim against a settling defendant does not establish that a portion of the settlement is attributed to that claim, let alone the amount of that attribution. This Court should reject plaintiffs' leap from *J.E. Johns'* acknowledgment—that there could be a case where a reduction in the offset is appropriate due to punitive damages—to a rule that an offset is required in any case where punitive damages were alleged.

⁶ While punitive damages in some circumstances are capped, *see* NRS 42.005(1), (2), that ceiling does not create an entitlement to any punitive damages, let alone the statutory maximum. *Bongiovi v. Sullivan*, 122 Nev. 556, 583, 138 P.3d 433, 452 (2006) (jury awarded 1:1 ratio in defamation action).

While this Court in J.E. Johns used punitive damages as an illustration of when certain exposure *could* be unique to a defendant, it did not give direction on how to handle the determination of the offset in such a case, aside from citing to the Texas cases discussed above (which contradict plaintiffs' arguments). In this sense, this Court's declarations about offsets for settlements for claims involving punitive damages truly were dicta, as the case did not present the issue and the Court did not fully articulate the standards applicable. If anything, the citation to *Mobil Oil* suggests approval of the burden-shifting framework applied in Texas. This Court certainly never held that the offset must be reduced substantially on the assumption that a jury would choose to award the constitutional or statutory maximum—in every settlement involving a mere claim of punitive damages. And for good reason, because plaintiffs' position is unworkable.

⁷ "A statement in a case is dictum when it is 'unnecessary to a determination of the questions involved." St. James Village, Inc. v. Cunningham, 125 Nev. 211, 216, 210 P.3d 190, 193 (2009), quoting Stanley v. Levy & Zentner Co., 60 Nev. 432, 448, 112 P.2d 1047, 1054 (1941). Put simply, "cases are not authority for propositions not considered." Guo v. Moorpark Recovery Serv., LLC, 275 Cal. Rptr. 3d 94, 99 (Cal. App. 2021).

J.E. Johns made only passing reference to punitive damages, such as "exposure beyond actual damages—such as treble or punitive damages…."

B. It is Unworkable for Courts to Speculate About Which Settlements Include Punitive Damages

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